

Financial Ecosystem Stewardship: A Conceptual Synthesis on Design, Governance, Diagnosis, Stress Testing, and Institutionalization

Bank & Finance Consulting Group

December 31, 2025



Contents

Preface	5
Executive Summary	6
1. From Finance to Financial Ecosystem Stewardship	S
1.1 The End of Financial Neutrality	g
1.2 Financial Systems as Ecosystems	10
1.3 From Control to Stewardship	10
1.4 The Arc of the Framework	11
1.5 Trade-offs, Judgment, and Public Value	11
1.6 What This Framework Contributes	12
2. Designing Financial Ecosystems	12
2.1 Finance as a Veil: A Normative Benchmark	13
2.2 Why Design Precedes Governance	13
2.3 The Five-Layer Financial Ecosystem Architecture	13
2.4 Structural Soundness and Design Quality	16
2.5 Irreducible Design Trade-offs	16
2.6 Quiet Design Failure and Structural Drift	18
2.7 Design as Necessary but Insufficient	18
2.8 Transition: From Design to Governance	18
3. Governing Financial Ecosystems	18
3.1 Why Financial Ecosystems Require Governance	19
3.2 Fragmentation as a Structural Condition	19
3.3 Governance as Stewardship, Not Control	20
3.4 Core Governance Functions in Financial Ecosystems	21
3.5 Governance Across the Five Layers	21
3.6 Governance Failure as Systemic Risk	22
3.7 The Limits of Governance	22
3.8 Transition: From Governance to Diagnostics	22
4. Diagnosing Financial Ecosystems	22
4.1 The Problem of Legibility in Complex Financial Systems	23



	4.2 Diagnostics as Interpretation, Not Measurement	.23
	4.3 From Signals to Vulnerabilities to Fragility	.23
	4.4 Structural Sources of Vulnerability Across the Five Layers	.25
	4.5 Vulnerability Migration and Structural Drift	.25
	4.6 Diagnostics and Judgment	.25
	4.7 The Limits of Diagnostics	.27
	4.8 Transition: From Legibility to Exploration	.27
5	. Stress Testing Without Illusion	.27
	5.1 Why Diagnostics Are Not Enough	.27
	5.2 Stress Testing as Downstream Stewardship	.28
	5.3 From Scenarios to Stress Dimensions	.28
	5.4 Propagation as the Core Object of Inquiry	.30
	5.5 Stress Across the Five Layers	.31
	5.6 Stress Testing as a Test of Governance Capacity	.31
	5.7 What Stress Testing Can Legitimately Inform	.31
	5.8 The Limits of Stress Testing	.32
	5.9 Transition: From Exploration to Endurance	.32
6	. Institutionalizing Financial Ecosystem Stewardship	.32
	6.1 Why Frameworks Do Not Endure	.33
	6.2 Institutionalization Beyond Adoption	.33
	6.3 Stewardship as Practice, Not Event	.34
	6.4 Mechanisms of Institutional Persistence	.34
	6.5 Institutional Drift and Erosion	.34
	6.6 Stewardship Across Cycles and Crises	.36
	6.7 Responsibility Without Control	.36
	6.8 Transition: From Endurance to Conclusions	.36
7	. Conclusions	.37
	7.1 What the Ecosystem Perspective Changes	.37
	7.2 The Stewardship Arc Revisited	.38
	7.3 Trade-offs as the Enduring Condition	.38
	7.4 Judgment Without Illusion	.38



7.5 Institutions as the Carriers of Stewardship	39
7.6 Responsibility in an Uncertain World	39
7.7 Closing the Arc	39
8. References	40
List of Boxes	
Box 2.1 — Design as the Discipline of Trade-Offs	15
Box 2.2 — Why Stability Can Breed Fragility	17
Box 3.1 — Governance Failure Without Rule Failure	19
Box 4.1 — Vulnerability, Risk, and Fragility	24
Box 4.2 — Why Indicators Fail Quietly	26
Box 5.1 — Scenarios vs Stress Dimensions	29
Box 5.2 — Propagation Is the Object, Not the Shock	30
Box 6.1 — Institutional Drift	35



Preface

Financial systems have rarely been more central to economic and social outcomes—and rarely more difficult to steward. Over the past decades, finance has expanded in scale, scope, and complexity, reshaping how risk is created, distributed, and transmitted across economies. At the same time, repeated episodes of instability have revealed persistent limits in our ability to foresee, control, or fully mitigate systemic risk.

This synthesis emerged from a growing recognition that these limits are not merely technical. They reflect a deeper challenge: **modern financial systems have become ecosystems**, while many of our analytical and institutional approaches remain partial, segmented, or event-driven. Tools have multiplied, data have expanded, and reforms have accumulated—yet fragility continues to surface in unexpected ways.

The work presented here does not begin from the premise that financial instability can be eliminated, nor that uncertainty can be mastered. Instead, it takes uncertainty seriously and asks a different question: how can financial ecosystems be stewarded responsibly over time, given irreducible trade-offs, fragmented authority, and incomplete knowledge?

This synthesis brings together a sequence of ideas developed over several years at **Bank & Finance Consulting Group**, in dialogue with policymakers, regulators, central banks, and international institutions. It reflects engagement with a wide body of economic, institutional, and policy thinking, while remaining grounded in the practical realities of governance under constraint. The aim has not been to add another framework to an already crowded field, but to integrate design, governance, diagnostics, stress testing, and institutional continuity into a single, coherent way of reasoning.

The chapters that follow are deliberately structured as an arc. They move from the structural foundations of financial systems, through the challenges of coordination and interpretation, to the exploration of behavior under stress and the institutional conditions required for stewardship to endure. Each chapter addresses a distinct dimension of the problem; none is intended to stand alone. Together, they form a perspective on financial stability that emphasizes judgment over precision, responsibility over control, and continuity over episodic reform.

This is not a prescriptive manual, nor a blueprint for institutional redesign. It does not offer forecasts, thresholds, or policy checklists. Its contribution is conceptual and institutional: to clarify how modern financial ecosystems function, where fragility accumulates, and why stewardship—rather than optimization—must be at the center of financial stability thinking.

The intended audience includes central bankers, financial regulators, finance ministry officials, leaders of international financial institutions, and others engaged in the governance of complex financial systems. It is written for readers who are already familiar with the tools of financial stability policy, and who recognize that the most difficult challenges lie not in the absence of instruments, but in the limits of coordination, interpretation, and institutional memory.

If this framework succeeds, it will not do so by resolving uncertainty or preventing future crises. It will succeed if it helps institutions reason more clearly about the systems they steward, remain alert to the quiet accumulation of fragility, and preserve the capacity to exercise judgment when certainty is unavailable.

That responsibility, ultimately, cannot be delegated.

Bank & Finance Consulting Group

December 2025



Executive Summary

Modern financial systems have outgrown the frameworks traditionally used to understand and govern them. They are no longer best described as collections of institutions or markets operating in relative isolation. They have become **financial ecosystems**: deeply interconnected, continuously evolving, and shaped as much by structure and interaction as by individual behavior.

In such systems, financial stability cannot be reduced to the soundness of individual balance sheets, the calibration of regulatory tools, or the accuracy of risk models. Stability emerges—or fails to emerge—from how information is interpreted, how infrastructures function, how innovation unfolds, how integration propagates shocks, and how governance coordinates under constraint. These dynamics unfold over time and under uncertainty that cannot be eliminated.

This synthesis advances a central proposition: **financial stability in modern economies is fundamentally a problem of stewardship under irreducible uncertainty**.

From Control to Stewardship

Much of the evolution of financial stability policy over recent decades has been driven by an understandable aspiration to improve control: more data, more models, more rules, and more sophisticated stress tests. These efforts have delivered important gains. Yet repeated episodes of instability reveal persistent limits. Vulnerabilities continue to accumulate quietly, propagate rapidly, and overwhelm coordination precisely when confidence in control is highest.

The limitation is not primarily technical. It is conceptual and institutional.

In complex financial ecosystems, outcomes cannot be fully predicted, optimized, or engineered. Authority is fragmented by design. Innovation outpaces regulation. Integration amplifies both efficiency and fragility. Under these conditions, the appropriate posture is not control, but **stewardship**: the continuous responsibility to preserve coherence, manage tradeoffs, and maintain the capacity to respond as systems evolve.

The Financial Ecosystem Perspective

The synthesis develops a functional view of financial systems organized around five interdependent layers:

- **Information**, which shapes expectations, coordination, and risk perception;
- Infrastructure, which determines speed, coupling, and points of failure;
- Innovation, which introduces novelty, optionality, and unknown risk;
- Integration, which governs propagation across institutions, markets, and borders;



• Governance, which steers the system under legal, political, and legitimacy constraints.

Systemic fragility often arises not within any single layer, but at their interfaces. Recognizing this shifts attention away from isolated interventions and toward the structure and interaction of the system as a whole.

A Stewardship Arc

The argument of the synthesis unfolds through a deliberate sequence, each step addressing a distinct failure mode in financial stability thinking:

- **Design** establishes the structural terrain of the financial ecosystem and the irreducible trade-offs embedded within it.
- Governance addresses how coherence is preserved over time in systems governed by fragmented authority.
- **Diagnostics** make systemic vulnerability legible through interpretation rather than measurement alone.
- Stress testing explores how diagnosed fragility behaves under strain, focusing on propagation and governance capacity rather than prediction.
- **Institutionalization** explains how this way of reasoning persists—or erodes—over time, across leadership changes, political cycles, and periods of calm.

None of these elements is sufficient on its own. Together, they form a **system of stewardship**, not a toolkit.

Judgment Without Illusion

A recurring theme throughout the framework is the role of judgment. In financial ecosystems, uncertainty cannot be eliminated without creating false confidence. Models, indicators, and procedures are indispensable, but they cannot substitute for interpretation, coordination, and responsibility.

Stewardship therefore requires judgment exercised without illusion: an acceptance of limits, an openness to disagreement, and a resistance to equating precision with understanding. This posture does not weaken authority. It grounds it.

Institutional Responsibility Over Time

The framework also emphasizes a temporal dimension that is often neglected. Analytical insight decays. Institutional memory erodes. Practices that once sharpened judgment can become ritualized. The most persistent risk to financial stability is not ignorance, but institutional drift.



For this reason, the ultimate challenge of financial ecosystem stewardship is not the design of better tools, but the preservation of institutional capacity to reason under uncertainty over time.

What This Synthesis Is—and Is Not

This synthesis does not offer a regulatory blueprint, a new model, or a set of policy prescriptions. It does not promise crisis prevention or risk elimination. Its contribution is conceptual and institutional.

It offers a coherent way of reasoning about financial stability in a world where complexity, integration, and uncertainty are permanent features—not transitional problems to be solved.

Intended Audience

The synthesis is written for central bankers, financial regulators, finance ministry officials, leaders of international financial institutions, and others responsible for the stewardship of complex financial systems. It assumes familiarity with the tools of financial stability policy and focuses instead on the deeper challenges that persist when tools alone are not enough.

A Closing Perspective

Financial ecosystems will continue to evolve. Shocks will occur in forms that cannot be fully anticipated. Trade-offs will remain unresolved. Under these conditions, the measure of success is not control, but **the quality and continuity of stewardship**.

This synthesis argues that such stewardship is possible—but only if institutions confront uncertainty with clarity, humility, and enduring responsibility.



1. From Finance to Financial Ecosystem Stewardship

Financial systems have become central to economic performance, social stability, and political legitimacy. They shape how risk is distributed, how investment is financed, how shocks propagate, and how confidence is sustained or lost. Yet despite their centrality, financial systems are often still approached as collections of institutions, markets, or policy instruments—governed through segmented mandates and analyzed through partial lenses.

This analysis starts from a different premise: **modern financial systems are ecosystems**. They are composed of interdependent layers, populated by heterogeneous actors, and governed by institutions operating under constraint. Systemic outcomes emerge not from individual components in isolation, but from interaction—across markets, infrastructures, institutions, and governance arrangements. In such systems, stability is not an equilibrium to be optimized, but a condition to be stewarded.

The challenge this framework addresses is therefore not how to perfect financial regulation or refine analytical tools. It is more fundamental: how financial ecosystems can be designed, governed, understood, tested, and sustained over time in the presence of irreducible uncertainty and trade-offs.

1.1 The End of Financial Neutrality

In its simplest abstraction, finance can be treated as a neutral veil over the real economy—a mechanism for allocating savings to investment without altering underlying economic fundamentals (Arrow, 1964; Debreu, 1959; Modigliani and Miller, 1958). This abstraction has long informed economic theory and policy intuition. In practice, however, it rarely holds.

Market incompleteness, information asymmetries, externalities, and institutional constraints ensure that financial structure matters. Choices about market design, intermediation, leverage, risk transfer, and information flows shape incentives and behavior in persistent ways. Financial systems amplify some risks, mute others, and redistribute volatility across sectors, households, and borders. They influence which activities grow, which fail, and how shocks are absorbed or transmitted (Minsky, 1986; Shiller, 2017).

Once finance is no longer neutral, financial stability cannot be reduced to the soundness of individual institutions or the smooth functioning of markets. It becomes a **system-level property**, shaped by structure, interaction, and governance. This recognition has driven decades of reform in macroprudential policy, stress testing, and international coordination. Yet many of these efforts still struggle with a deeper problem: they address symptoms without fully engaging with the ecosystemic nature of modern finance.



1.2 Financial Systems as Ecosystems

An ecosystem perspective shifts attention from components to **relationships**. It emphasizes interdependence, feedback loops, and non-linear dynamics. In financial ecosystems, stability and fragility coexist. Systems may appear resilient under normal conditions, only to fail abruptly when thresholds are crossed or coordination breaks down.

Crucially, ecosystems are not engineered to eliminate all risk. They evolve, adapt, and sometimes fail. The task of public authority is therefore not to design risk-free systems—an impossibility—but to steward systems whose failures do not undermine public value.

Viewing finance as an ecosystem has several implications:

- Systemic risk emerges from interaction, not from isolated balance sheets.
- Vulnerabilities migrate across institutions, markets, and infrastructures over time.
- Governance is inherently fragmented, reflecting legal mandates, political accountability, and cross-border complexity.
- Analytical certainty is unattainable; judgment under uncertainty is unavoidable (Knight, 1921; Simon, 1957).

These features are not anomalies. They are defining characteristics of modern finance.

1.3 From Control to Stewardship

Traditional approaches to financial stability often carry an implicit aspiration to control: to calibrate buffers, optimize rules, and preempt crises through increasingly sophisticated analysis. While these tools have value, they can also create a misleading sense of mastery.

In complex adaptive systems, **control is limited**. Interventions change behavior; models age quickly; incentives adapt. The more tightly systems are coupled, the more difficult it becomes to predict how stress will propagate or how actors will respond. Under such conditions, the central challenge is not optimization, but **stewardship**.

Stewardship recognizes limits. It accepts that trade-offs cannot be resolved once and for all, that uncertainty cannot be eliminated, and that governance must operate with incomplete information. It focuses on preserving coherence, maintaining optionality, and sustaining the capacity to respond when conditions change.

This framework develops stewardship as the appropriate posture for financial ecosystem governance—one that emphasizes responsibility over control and judgment over precision.



1.4 The Arc of the Framework

The argument of this framework unfolds in seven chapters, each addressing a distinct but interdependent dimension of financial ecosystem stewardship.

Chapter 2 — Designing Financial Ecosystems establishes the normative and structural foundations. It introduces a five-layer architecture—information, infrastructure, innovation, integration, and governance—and explains why design choices shape resilience, performance, and public value. It highlights irreducible trade-offs that define the space within which financial systems operate.

Chapter 3 — Governing Financial Ecosystems examines how coherence is preserved in systems characterized by fragmented authority. It reframes governance as stewardship and identifies coordination failures as endogenous sources of systemic risk.

Chapter 4 — Diagnosing Financial Ecosystems addresses the problem of legibility. It explains how systemic vulnerabilities become visible to governance through interpretation rather than measurement, and why judgment is integral to diagnosis.

Chapter 5 — Stress Testing Without Illusion explores how diagnosed fragilities behave under strain. It reframes stress testing as a governed exploration of propagation and amplification, and as a test of governance capacity rather than a predictive exercise.

Chapter 6 — Institutionalizing Financial Ecosystem Stewardship turns to the temporal dimension. It explains how ecosystemic reasoning becomes a durable institutional capability—and why institutional decay, not analytical error, is the dominant long-term risk.

Chapter 7 — Conclusions reflects on stewardship under irreducible uncertainty, drawing together the threads of design, governance, diagnostics, stress testing, and institutionalization into a coherent perspective on responsibility in modern finance.

Each chapter is necessary. None is sufficient on its own.

1.5 Trade-offs, Judgment, and Public Value

A central theme running through the framework is the role of **trade-offs**. Financial ecosystems cannot simultaneously maximize efficiency, resilience, innovation, integration, openness, and stability. Choices along these dimensions are unavoidable and often contested. They shift over time and reappear in new forms as systems evolve.

These trade-offs cannot be delegated to models or resolved through technical calibration. They require judgment exercised by institutions operating under legal, political, and ethical constraints. This is why financial stability is ultimately a **governance problem**, not a purely analytical one.



Public value provides the orienting benchmark. Financial systems exist to support real economic activity, manage risk, and enable long-term prosperity. When they undermine trust, exacerbate inequality, or amplify shocks beyond society's capacity to absorb them, stewardship has failed—even if formal rules were followed.

1.6 What This Framework Contributes

This framework does not offer a new model, a regulatory blueprint, or a stress-testing methodology. Its contribution is conceptual and institutional.

It offers:

- a coherent way to think about financial systems as ecosystems;
- a disciplined arc linking design, governance, diagnostics, stress testing, and institutionalization;
- and a framework for understanding stewardship as an enduring institutional responsibility under uncertainty.

In doing so, it seeks to shift the conversation from how to control financial systems to how to steward them responsibly over time.

The chapters that follow build this argument step by step.

2. Designing Financial Ecosystems

A Five-Layer Architecture for Resilience, Performance, and Public Value

If financial systems are ecosystems rather than neutral conduits, then **design becomes a first-order concern**. Before questions of governance, diagnostics, stress testing, or crisis response arise, the architecture of the financial ecosystem already shapes incentives, behavior, and vulnerability. Design determines not whether risk exists—risk is unavoidable—but **how risk is created**, **distributed**, and absorbed.

This chapter establishes the **normative and structural foundations** of financial ecosystem stewardship. It explains what a well-functioning financial ecosystem should approximate once neutrality is abandoned, introduces the Five-Layer Financial Ecosystem Architecture, and clarifies why design is **necessary but insufficient** for financial stability and public value.

Design does not govern the system. It does not diagnose fragility or explore stress. It defines the terrain on which all subsequent stewardship must operate.



2.1 Finance as a Veil: A Normative Benchmark

The idea of finance as a neutral veil over the real economy has long served as a simplifying benchmark in economic analysis. In this abstraction, financial arrangements facilitate saving, investment, and exchange without materially altering real economic outcomes.

In modern financial systems, this benchmark rarely holds. Market incompleteness, asymmetric information, leverage, and institutional constraints ensure that financial structure shapes incentives and behavior in persistent ways. Credit allocation influences sectoral growth; risk transfer redistributes volatility across agents; liquidity conditions affect price discovery and investment horizons; and financial innovation alters risk-taking dynamics over time (Minsky, 1986; Shiller, 2017).

The neutrality benchmark remains valuable precisely because it is unattainable. It provides a **normative reference point** against which financial systems can be assessed. The purpose of design is not to restore neutrality, but to **limit the distance between financial activity and public value**, recognizing that perfect alignment is impossible.

2.2 Why Design Precedes Governance

Design precedes governance in a logical, not chronological, sense. Governance acts on a system whose basic architecture is already in place. When design embeds fragility, governance is forced into a reactive posture, attempting to manage tensions that are structurally generated.

Several characteristics of modern finance elevate the importance of design:

- Scale and speed, which increase the pace at which shocks propagate;
- Continuous innovation, which introduces novelty faster than rules can adapt;
- Deep integration, which connects institutions, markets, and jurisdictions;
- Complex infrastructures, which concentrate operational and systemic risk.

These are not governance failures. They are **design characteristics**. Treating them as governance problems alone overburdens institutions and obscures the structural origins of fragility.

2.3 The Five-Layer Financial Ecosystem Architecture

To make design legible, this framework adopts a **Five-Layer Financial Ecosystem Architecture**. The architecture is **functional rather than institutional**. It does not classify actors or markets. Instead, it identifies the core layers through which financial activity is generated, transformed, and propagated.

No layer is dominant. Systemic outcomes emerge from interaction across layers and, critically, at their interfaces.



Information

The information layer comprises data, signals, expectations, narratives, and shared beliefs that guide decision-making under uncertainty. Prices, disclosures, models, ratings, and informal narratives all shape coordination, risk perception, and timing of adjustment.

Information is never neutral. Abundant information can coexist with fragility when interpretability breaks down or when common narratives drive synchronized behavior (Shiller, 2017).

Infrastructure

Infrastructure includes payment systems, clearing and settlement arrangements, custodial services, and the technological backbone of finance. Infrastructure determines speed, scale, and coupling.

Well-designed infrastructure can absorb stress through redundancy and modularity. Poorly designed infrastructure can transmit shocks rapidly and invisibly, transforming local disturbances into systemic events.

Innovation

The innovation layer captures the continuous introduction of new instruments, products, business models, and technologies. Innovation expands financial possibilities and supports growth, but it also introduces **novel risk**—risk that is poorly understood, weakly governed, and difficult to diagnose ex ante.

Innovation is a primary source of structural uncertainty. Its interaction with infrastructure and integration has been a recurring source of systemic fragility (Minsky, 1986).

Integration

Integration reflects the degree of interconnectedness across institutions, markets, sectors, and borders. It governs how risk propagates through the ecosystem.

Integration enables diversification and efficiency, but also creates channels for amplification, contagion, and regime shifts. Highly integrated systems may appear stable until stress reveals hidden coupling and common exposures (Gorton and Metrick, 2012).

Governance

Governance encompasses the public and private arrangements that steer and stabilize the financial ecosystem: laws, regulations, supervisory practices, standards, and informal norms.

Governance is embedded within the ecosystem, not external to it. Its effectiveness is conditioned by information quality, infrastructural design, innovation dynamics, and the degree of integration. Governance does not eliminate trade-offs; it manages them over time.

Once the financial ecosystem is viewed through this layered structure, the central challenge of design becomes unavoidable. Box 2.1 explains design as the discipline of trade-offs.



Box 2.1 — Design as the Discipline of Trade-Offs

In a world of complete markets and perfect information, financial system design would be largely irrelevant. Once those conditions fail, financial outcomes depend critically on how frictions are organized. Design, in this context, is not the pursuit of first-best solutions, but the discipline of managing irreducible trade-offs.

These trade-offs are structural. They arise because finance simultaneously performs multiple functions—intermediation, risk sharing, liquidity provision, and price discovery—under uncertainty, strategic interaction, and incomplete contracting. Optimizing one dimension inevitably stresses others. Sound design therefore seeks **coherence**, not optimization: a configuration in which trade-offs are explicit, balanced across layers, and aligned with long-run public value.

Six recurrent design tensions are particularly salient:

Resilience vs. Efficiency

Systems optimized for static efficiency minimize buffers and concentrate risk. They perform well in tranquil periods but fail abruptly under stress. As emphasized by Minsky (1986), stability itself can breed fragility.

Design principle: Preserve core financial functions under stress, even at the cost of lower apparent efficiency in normal times.

Modularity vs. Integration

Integration enables scale, diversification, and cross-border risk sharing, but also tightens coupling and accelerates contagion. Modularity limits propagation and enhances adaptability, at the expense of some efficiency gains.

Design principle: Integrate where diversification dominates; preserve modularity where containment and adaptability are critical.

Openness vs. Control

Openness to capital flows, platforms, data, and innovation expands access and competition, but exposes systems to volatile flows, arbitrage, and external shocks—especially in open and digital economies.

Design principle: Treat openness as a calibrated structural choice, not an ideological one.

Innovation vs. Stability

Financial innovation can improve allocation and information, but it also reshapes incentives and redistributes risk in ways that are poorly understood ex ante. Many crises originate in rapid innovation interacting with leverage and imperfect information.

Design principle: Encourage innovation that expands allocative capacity while embedding constraints that limit hidden systemic risk.



Diversity vs. Standardization

Diversity of institutions and business models reduces correlated behavior and enhances resilience. Standardization supports interoperability, scalability, and transparency.

Design principle: Standardize where clarity and interoperability are essential; preserve diversity where heterogeneity strengthens resilience (Williamson, 1985; North, 1990).

Adaptability vs. Static Optimization

Financial ecosystems evolve continuously. Designs optimized for a specific configuration risk becoming sources of fragility as conditions change.

Design principle: Prioritize adaptability and learning over static optimality in environments of uncertainty.

Taken together, these principles define the **design space** of financial ecosystems. They do not prescribe institutions or policies. Instead, they function as constraints on system evolution, helping policymakers recognize when progress along one dimension undermines coherence elsewhere.

2.4 Structural Soundness and Design Quality

Design quality cannot be reduced to efficiency or innovation alone. A structurally sound financial ecosystem exhibits several broad characteristics:

- Modularity, allowing stress to be contained rather than propagated;
- Redundancy, providing buffers and alternative pathways;
- Transparency, supporting interpretation and coordination;
- Adaptability, enabling evolution without abrupt failure.

These characteristics are qualitative and context-dependent. Enhancing one often weakens another. Design therefore operates under **irreducible constraints**, not optimizable targets.

2.5 Irreducible Design Trade-offs

Financial ecosystem design necessarily involves trade-offs, including:

- Innovation vs. governability: novelty expands possibilities while increasing uncertainty;
- Integration vs. resilience: interconnectedness enables efficiency but amplifies shocks;
- Infrastructure efficiency vs. robustness: speed and scale can reduce tolerance for failure;
- Information abundance vs. interpretability: more data can obscure meaning;



• Private performance vs. public value: individual success can undermine systemic trust.

These trade-offs are not failures of design. They are **structural conditions** of modern finance. Design shapes how trade-offs are expressed, but cannot resolve them once and for all. As **Box 2.2** shows, these trade-offs are not static. Their consequences unfold over time, often in counter-intuitive ways.

Box 2.2 — Why Stability Can Breed Fragility

Periods of financial stability are often interpreted as evidence that a system is well designed. Yet history repeatedly shows the opposite pattern: prolonged stability can itself become a source of fragility.

When volatility is low, defaults are rare, and losses are contained, perceptions of risk adjust. Balance sheets expand, leverage increases, maturity transformation intensifies, and buffers are reduced. These responses are individually rational and often encouraged by prevailing incentives, yet collectively they alter the structure of the financial ecosystem.

This dynamic was most clearly articulated by Minsky (1986), who argued that stability changes behavior in ways that endogenously increase systemic vulnerability. Importantly, fragility does not arise from shocks imposed on the system, but from the internal evolution of the system during calm periods.

From a design perspective, this insight has two critical implications.

First, fragility cannot be inferred reliably from contemporaneous performance. A system may appear robust precisely when it is becoming more exposed to amplification and propagation. Low volatility, tight spreads, and abundant liquidity are ambiguous signals: they may reflect genuine resilience, or they may reflect compressed risk perception.

Second, design choices that prioritize short-term efficiency—such as minimizing capital and liquidity buffers, maximizing integration, or accelerating innovation—tend to reinforce this dynamic. The very features that enhance performance in tranquil states can weaken the system's capacity to absorb stress.

The design challenge, therefore, is not to eliminate instability, but to **prevent stability from eroding resilience**. This requires embedding countervailing structures—buffers, modularity, frictions, and governance constraints—that may appear costly during normal times but preserve core functions under strain.

Stability should thus be treated not as an endpoint, but as a **condition that requires active stewardship**. Without such discipline, financial ecosystems tend to convert periods of calm into the preconditions for crisis.



2.6 Quiet Design Failure and Structural Drift

Design failures rarely announce themselves. Systems can perform well for extended periods while accumulating latent fragility. Concentration can increase unnoticed; dependencies can tighten gradually; innovation can outrun governance capacity.

Such failures are often revealed only under stress, at which point governance is asked to respond under pressure. Recognizing design as a source of fragility helps explain why crises are frequently attributed to behavior or policy error, even when **structural conditions made failure likely**.

2.7 Design as Necessary but Insufficient

Sound design improves the odds of stability, but it does not guarantee it. Even well-designed financial ecosystems require continuous stewardship. Trade-offs must be managed, not resolved. Structures must be interpreted as conditions evolve.

Design defines what governance can realistically achieve, what diagnostics must render visible, and what stress testing will ultimately explore. It provides foundations, not solutions.

2.8 Transition: From Design to Governance

Once design choices are made—explicitly or implicitly—the central challenge shifts. How are trade-offs managed over time? How is coherence preserved in a system governed by fragmented authority, evolving innovation, deep integration, and incomplete information?

These are not design questions. They are **governance problems**.

The next chapter turns to that challenge, examining how financial ecosystems are steered—not controlled—through institutions tasked with stewardship under constraint.

3. Governing Financial Ecosystems

Stewardship Under Fragmentation and Constraint

Design defines the structural conditions of a financial ecosystem, but it does not preserve coherence over time. Once a system is in operation—innovating, integrating, and evolving—new tensions inevitably emerge. Trade-offs shift, vulnerabilities migrate, and coordination becomes harder precisely as systems grow more complex.

This chapter addresses the problem that follows design: how financial ecosystems are governed once irreducible trade-offs are acknowledged. It develops governance not as control



or optimization, but as **stewardship**—the continuous task of maintaining coherence in a system characterized by fragmentation, uncertainty, and interdependence.

3.1 Why Financial Ecosystems Require Governance

In simple systems, coordination can be achieved through prices, contracts, or hierarchical authority. Financial ecosystems are not simple systems. They span multiple layers, jurisdictions, mandates, and time horizons. No single actor observes the whole system, and no single institution has the authority to steer it unilaterally.

Governance is therefore not an optional overlay. It is a **structural requirement** that emerges from three features of modern finance:

- Irreducible trade-offs embedded in design choices;
- Deep integration across institutions, markets, and borders;
- Continuous innovation, which alters system behavior faster than formal rules can adapt.

Without governance, these features do not self-correct. They interact, reinforce one another, and can generate systemic fragility even when individual actors behave rationally.

3.2 Fragmentation as a Structural Condition

Authority in financial ecosystems is deliberately fragmented. Central banks, supervisory agencies, finance ministries, market authorities, and international bodies operate under distinct mandates, legal constraints, and accountability structures. Fragmentation reflects democratic legitimacy, specialization, and the complexity of modern finance. Fragmentation is not a design flaw. It is a **structural condition**.

The governance challenge is therefore not to centralize authority, but to **coordinate across fragmented authority**. Failures of coordination—misaligned incentives, delayed escalation, incomplete information sharing—are common precursors to systemic crises. In this sense, governance failure is not an external shock; it is an **endogenous source of systemic risk**.

Fragmented financial ecosystems can drift into fragility even when institutions comply fully with their mandates and rules; as **Box 3.1** explains, the distinction between rule adherence and system coherence is therefore central to understanding governance failure.

Box 3.1 — Governance Failure Without Rule Failure

Financial crises are often explained ex post as failures of rules, supervision, or compliance. Yet in many episodes of systemic distress, formal rules were followed, mandates were respected, and institutions acted within their legal authority. What failed was not rule adherence, but **systemic coherence**.



In fragmented financial ecosystems, governance does not operate through a single command structure. Authority is distributed across institutions with distinct mandates, incentives, and accountability frameworks. Each authority may act rationally and lawfully within its domain, while the system as a whole drifts toward fragility.

This creates a distinctive failure mode: governance failure without rule failure.

Such failures typically arise from:

- misaligned priorities across institutions,
- delayed recognition of cross-sectoral vulnerabilities,
- fragmented interpretation of shared signals, and
- coordination breakdowns under time pressure.

Importantly, these failures are endogenous. They do not require misconduct, negligence, or regulatory gaps. They emerge from the interaction of fragmented authority with deep integration, innovation, and uncertainty.

From a stewardship perspective, this distinction matters. Strengthening rules or tightening compliance does not necessarily address governance failure. What is required instead is the capacity to recognize system-level tensions, manage trade-offs across mandates, and coordinate interpretation and action before stress materializes.

Governance, in this sense, is not primarily about enforcing rules. It is about **maintaining** coherence in a system where no single authority is in control.

3.3 Governance as Stewardship, Not Control

Traditional approaches to financial governance often carry an implicit aspiration to control: to calibrate rules, optimize buffers, and preempt instability through increasingly granular oversight. In complex financial ecosystems, this aspiration is misplaced.

Stewardship offers a different posture. It recognizes that:

- full control is unattainable;
- system behavior changes in response to intervention;
- uncertainty cannot be eliminated;
- and judgment is unavoidable.



Stewardship focuses on preserving coherence, managing trade-offs, and maintaining the capacity to respond as conditions evolve. It replaces the illusion of optimization with disciplined coordination under constraint.

3.4 Core Governance Functions in Financial Ecosystems

Governance in financial ecosystems is best understood in terms of **functions**, not institutions. These functions are performed imperfectly, distributed across authorities, and shaped by context. Together, they determine whether stewardship is effective.

Coordination: Aligning actions across authorities with overlapping responsibilities, especially where mandates intersect or conflict.

Information Aggregation and Interpretation: Collecting, synthesizing, and interpreting signals across the five layers of the ecosystem. Governance depends not on raw data, but on shared understanding.

Priority-Setting Under Trade-offs: Deciding which risks matter most when objectives conflict and resources are limited.

Interface Management: Managing interactions between layers—especially where innovation meets infrastructure, or where integration strains governance capacity.

Escalation and Sequencing: Determining when issues require higher-level attention and how decisions unfold over time.

These functions are not technical tools. They are **capabilities** that shape how governance operates in practice.

3.5 Governance Across the Five Layers

Governance does not act on a single object. It operates across all five layers of the financial ecosystem:

- It depends on **information** quality and interpretability;
- It is constrained by **infrastructure** design and operational realities;
- It must respond to **innovation** that introduces novelty and uncertainty;
- It is challenged by integration, which amplifies propagation and spillovers;
- And it must maintain its own legitimacy and coherence.

Weakness in any layer can undermine governance effectiveness, even when formal authority remains intact.



3.6 Governance Failure as Systemic Risk

Governance failures often precede market failures. Delayed recognition of emerging risks, fragmented interpretation, and misaligned incentives can allow vulnerabilities to accumulate unchecked.

These failures are frequently invisible ex ante. Institutions may comply with mandates, follow procedures, and meet formal requirements while collectively missing the buildup of systemic fragility. Governance failure thus tends to be **quiet**, revealed only when stress exposes coordination breakdowns.

3.7 The Limits of Governance

Governance is indispensable, but it is not sufficient. Even well-functioning governance arrangements face a fundamental limitation: they require legibility.

Without a disciplined way to interpret where vulnerabilities are accumulating across the ecosystem, governance risks acting too late, focusing on the wrong problems, or mistaking stability for resilience. Governance cannot steer what it cannot see.

This limitation does not reflect institutional weakness. It reflects the complexity of the system being governed.

3.8 Transition: From Governance to Diagnostics

If governance is stewardship under fragmentation and constraint, then its effectiveness depends critically on its ability to perceive emerging fragility. Governance requires an interpretive function that makes systemic vulnerability visible before it is tested by stress. That function is **diagnostics**.

The next chapter turns to this challenge, examining how vulnerabilities in financial ecosystems become legible to governance through interpretation rather than prediction.

4. Diagnosing Financial Ecosystems

Making Systemic Risk Legible to Governance

Governance cannot act on what it cannot see. In complex financial ecosystems, however, visibility is elusive. Vulnerabilities accumulate gradually, disperse across layers, and often remain latent while surface indicators appear benign. By the time stress reveals them, governance is forced into reactive mode.



This chapter addresses the problem that follows governance: **how systemic vulnerability becomes legible before it is tested by reality**. It develops diagnostics as a distinct function—neither governance nor stress testing, neither measurement nor prediction—but **interpretation under uncertainty**.

4.1 The Problem of Legibility in Complex Financial Systems

Modern financial ecosystems generate abundant information. Data flows continuously from markets, institutions, infrastructures, and supervisory processes. Yet abundance does not guarantee understanding.

Three features of financial ecosystems undermine legibility:

- **Dispersion**: vulnerabilities are distributed across layers rather than concentrated in single balance sheets;
- Latency: fragility can build without visible stress;
- Interaction: risk emerges from coupling, not from isolated exposures.

As a result, governance can be information-rich and insight-poor. Diagnostics exist to bridge this gap—not by adding more data, but by **connecting signals to structure**.

4.2 Diagnostics as Interpretation, Not Measurement

Diagnostics are often conflated with monitoring, indicators, or dashboards. These instruments have value, but they do not by themselves produce diagnosis.

Diagnosis is an **interpretive act**. It involves identifying patterns, relationships, and tensions that signal emerging vulnerability within a specific structural context. Diagnostics answer a different question than measurement. They ask not *how much risk* exists, but *where fragility is forming and why*.

This distinction matters. Measurement seeks precision; diagnostics seek meaning. Measurement abstracts from context; diagnostics are inseparable from it. In complex systems, attempts to substitute measurement for interpretation often create false confidence (Knight, 1921).

4.3 From Signals to Vulnerabilities to Fragility

Diagnostics operate by distinguishing among three related but distinct concepts:

- Signals: observable data points, indicators, and events;
- Vulnerabilities: structural conditions that make the system sensitive to disturbance;



• Systemic fragility: the configuration of vulnerabilities that enables amplification and propagation.

Signals are abundant. Vulnerabilities are fewer and harder to identify. Fragility emerges when vulnerabilities align across layers.

Diagnostics trace this progression. They connect signals to vulnerabilities and vulnerabilities to potential systemic consequences, without claiming foresight or prediction. As **Box 4.1** discusses, effective diagnostics require distinguishing between risk, vulnerability, and fragility—terms that are often conflated but refer to fundamentally different system properties.

Box 4.1 — Vulnerability, Risk, and Fragility: Not the Same Thing

In discussions of financial stability, the terms *risk*, *vulnerability*, and *fragility* are often used interchangeably. In an ecosystemic context, this conflation obscures what diagnostics are meant to achieve.

Risk refers to exposure to adverse outcomes, typically framed in probabilistic terms. It is event-focused and often quantified: the likelihood and impact of a loss given a specific shock. Risk language is well suited to pricing, capital allocation, and micro-level decision-making, but it is poorly suited to capturing system-level dynamics under uncertainty.

Vulnerability is structural rather than probabilistic. It describes conditions that make a financial ecosystem sensitive to disturbance, regardless of whether a specific shock has been identified. Vulnerabilities arise from persistent features of design and interaction—such as leverage, maturity mismatch, concentration, tight coupling, or reliance on common narratives. A system can be highly vulnerable even when measured risks appear low.

Fragility emerges when vulnerabilities align and interact in ways that enable amplification and propagation. Fragility is not a property of individual institutions or markets. It is a system-level condition that reflects how vulnerabilities across layers combine, reinforce one another, and transmit stress.

Diagnostics are concerned primarily with **vulnerability and fragility**, not with risk in the narrow sense. Their task is to identify where structural conditions are forming that could allow small disturbances to become systemic, even in the absence of identifiable shocks or elevated risk metrics.

This distinction explains why financial ecosystems can appear stable precisely when fragility is increasing. Risk measures may decline, volatility may compress, and losses may be rare—while vulnerabilities quietly accumulate and interconnections tighten.

Recognizing the difference between risk, vulnerability, and fragility is therefore essential. Without it, diagnostics are reduced to monitoring, and the purpose of diagnosis—to render systemic fragility legible to governance—is lost.



4.4 Structural Sources of Vulnerability Across the Five Layers

Systemic vulnerability in financial ecosystems is structural. It arises from persistent features of design and interaction rather than from discrete shocks.

Across the five layers, common sources include:

- **Information**: narrative convergence, overreliance on common models, or loss of interpretability amid data abundance;
- Infrastructure: tight coupling, single points of failure, or operational concentration;
- Innovation: novel instruments whose risks are poorly understood or weakly governed;
- Integration: common exposures, correlated behavior, and cross-border spillovers;
- Governance: mandate misalignment, delayed escalation, or fragmented interpretation.

Diagnostics focus on how these sources interact. Fragility often concentrates at **interfaces**, such as innovation interacting with integration, or infrastructure straining governance capacity.

4.5 Vulnerability Migration and Structural Drift

Vulnerabilities are not static. As governance adapts and markets evolve, fragility tends to **migrate** rather than disappear. Constraints in one layer can push risk into another; reforms in one domain can reshape incentives elsewhere.

This dynamic—often described as regulatory arbitrage or risk migration—reflects a deeper phenomenon: **structural drift**. Over time, systems move away from their original design benchmarks as innovation, integration, and behavior evolve (Minsky, 1986).

Diagnostics therefore cannot rely on static templates. They must remain attentive to how vulnerability shifts across layers and how familiar patterns reappear in new forms.

4.6 Diagnostics and Judgment

Because diagnostics involve interpretation, judgment is unavoidable. Different observers may emphasize different signals, draw different inferences, or disagree about the significance of emerging patterns.

Such disagreement is not a failure. In complex systems, contested interpretation is often a source of information rather than noise. Diagnostics benefit from plural perspectives and iterative reassessment, not mechanical consensus (Simon, 1957).

What matters is not uniformity of view, but disciplined reasoning anchored in structure.



Box 4.2 discusses that while indicators and dashboards are indispensable for organizing information, their limitations become most evident during periods of apparent stability, when fragility can accumulate without triggering clear signals.

Box 4.2 — Why Indicators Fail Quietly

Financial stability frameworks often rely heavily on indicators, dashboards, and early-warning systems. These tools play an important role in organizing information, but they also exhibit a characteristic failure mode: **they tend to fail quietly**.

Indicator failure is rarely abrupt. Instead, it occurs through gradual loss of meaning. As systems adapt, relationships embedded in indicators weaken, distributions shift, and thresholds lose relevance. Signals that once captured emerging risk begin to reflect normalization rather than resilience.

Several mechanisms contribute to this quiet failure:

- Compression of volatility and risk premia, which reduces apparent risk precisely when leverage and exposure are increasing;
- Model convergence, as institutions and market participants rely on similar indicators and frameworks, reinforcing common interpretations;
- Endogenous behavior, where actions taken in response to indicators alter the system in ways the indicators were not designed to capture;
- Narrative dominance, where reassuring stories persist despite accumulating structural vulnerability.

Because these processes unfold gradually, indicator systems rarely trigger clear alarms before fragility becomes visible through stress. By the time indicators register concern, coordination options may already be constrained.

Diagnostics exist to address this limitation. Rather than relying on thresholds or signals alone, diagnostics interpret indicators in context, asking whether underlying structural conditions are changing even when surface measures appear benign.

The implication for governance is not to abandon indicators, but to recognize their limits. Indicators organize attention; diagnostics provide meaning. Confusing the two risks mistaking apparent stability for resilience.



4.7 The Limits of Diagnostics

Diagnostics improve legibility, but they do not test behavior. They cannot reveal how vulnerabilities will interact under strain, how quickly propagation will occur, or how institutions will respond when assumptions break down.

Diagnostics also cannot eliminate uncertainty. They surface fragility, but they do not determine outcomes or prescribe action. Their role is preparatory, not decisive.

Recognizing these limits preserves the integrity of diagnostics and prevents them from being overloaded with expectations they cannot meet.

4.8 Transition: From Legibility to Exploration

Once vulnerabilities have been diagnosed—once fragility has become legible—the question changes again. How will these vulnerabilities behave under pressure? Which interactions will amplify stress, and which will absorb it? Where will governance capacity be strained?

These questions cannot be answered through diagnostics alone. They require **exploration under strain**.

The next chapter turns to that task, examining stress testing as a disciplined way to explore systemic behavior without illusion or false precision.

5. Stress Testing Without Illusion

Exploring Systemic Fragility Under Strain

Financial crises rarely originate in ignorance. More often, vulnerabilities are known in advance, debated, and even documented—yet their interaction under stress overwhelms expectations. Fragility that appears manageable in isolation becomes destabilizing once pressure mounts and coordination frays.

This chapter addresses the problem that follows diagnostics: how diagnosed systemic fragility behaves under strain. It develops stress testing not as a predictive or measurement exercise, but as a disciplined exploration of systemic behavior, conducted to inform judgment rather than certify resilience.

5.1 Why Diagnostics Are Not Enough

Diagnostics render fragility legible, but legibility alone does not reveal behavior. Knowing where vulnerabilities lie does not explain how they will interact once conditions change abruptly.



Three features of financial ecosystems limit what diagnostics can deliver on their own:

- Non-linearity: small disturbances can produce disproportionate effects;
- Feedback: behavior adapts as conditions evolve;
- Coordination under pressure: governance arrangements are tested when assumptions fail.

Stress testing exists to explore these features—not to forecast outcomes, but to examine **how** systems might behave when familiar relationships break down.

5.2 Stress Testing as Downstream Stewardship

Within the architecture of financial ecosystem stewardship, stress testing is explicitly downstream. It presupposes:

- a designed system with known trade-offs;
- governance arrangements operating under fragmentation;
- diagnosed vulnerabilities that are structurally grounded.

Stress testing that is detached from this context risks becoming ritualized—repeated exercises producing outputs that are precise but uninformative. Anchored properly, stress testing becomes a governance craft: a way to probe assumptions, expose hidden coupling, and prepare institutions for surprise (Taleb, 2007).

5.3 From Scenarios to Stress Dimensions

Conventional stress testing often relies on detailed scenarios—narratives about hypothetical events and macroeconomic paths. While such scenarios can be useful, they also risk creating a false sense of realism and precision.

This framework adopts a different approach: stress dimensions rather than scenarios.

Stress dimensions are conceptual axes along which pressure is applied to diagnosed vulnerabilities. They focus attention on structure rather than storytelling. Examples include:

- liquidity strain across integrated markets;
- operational stress in critical infrastructure;
- rapid repricing under information uncertainty;
- innovation-driven amplification through new instruments;
- coordination breakdown across governance boundaries.



By stressing dimensions rather than events, exploration remains focused on **what is being tested**, not on speculative narratives about the future. **Box 5.1** explains that to understand how financial ecosystems behave under strain, it is necessary to move beyond scenario narratives and focus instead on the dimensions along which diagnosed vulnerabilities are stressed.

Box 5.1 — Scenarios vs. Stress Dimensions

Conventional stress testing is often organized around **scenarios**: internally consistent narratives describing hypothetical macroeconomic or financial events. Scenarios can be useful for communication and comparability, but they also introduce a persistent risk—**false realism**.

Scenarios encourage attention to the plausibility of the story rather than to the structure of the system being tested. Debates often focus on whether a scenario is likely, extreme, or historically grounded, diverting attention from the more fundamental question: what vulnerabilities are being stressed, and how do they interact?

An ecosystemic approach replaces scenarios with stress dimensions.

Stress dimensions are conceptual axes along which pressure is applied to **diagnosed structural vulnerabilities**, independent of any specific narrative about the future. They focus on *how* the system behaves under strain, not on *what* triggers the strain.

Examples of stress dimensions include:

- severe liquidity strain across highly integrated markets,
- abrupt loss of confidence in shared information or valuation anchors,
- operational disruption in critical financial infrastructure,
- rapid repricing of innovative instruments with limited loss history,
- coordination breakdown across governance boundaries.

Stress dimensions make explicit what is being tested: propagation channels, amplification mechanisms, thresholds, and governance capacity. They avoid the illusion that system behavior can be inferred from detailed storytelling about future events.

This distinction matters for stewardship. Stress testing is not a forecasting exercise, nor a judgment about likelihood. It is an exploration of **system behavior conditional on strain**, designed to surface hidden coupling, non-linear responses, and institutional constraints that diagnostics alone cannot reveal.

By shifting attention from scenarios to stress dimensions, stress testing remains disciplined, interpretable, and aligned with its purpose: informing judgment without claiming prediction.



5.4 Propagation as the Core Object of Inquiry

Systemic risk manifests through **propagation**. Stress becomes systemic when it travels across layers and amplifies through feedback loops.

Stress testing derives its value from illuminating:

- transmission channels across institutions and markets;
- amplification mechanisms linked to integration and leverage;
- delays and thresholds that trigger regime shifts;
- cross-layer interactions, especially between innovation and governance.

Propagation is rarely linear. It often involves tipping points and abrupt changes in behavior that are difficult to infer from normal-time data (Gorton and Metrick, 2012). **Box 5.2** illustratres that in complex financial ecosystems, the severity of crises is determined less by the initiating shock than by how stress propagates through interconnected structures.

Box 5.2 — Propagation Is the Object, Not the Shock

In discussions of financial stress, attention often gravitates toward the **shock**: its origin, magnitude, or historical plausibility. Yet in complex financial ecosystems, shocks are rarely the decisive factor. Small disturbances can trigger systemic crises, while large shocks can be absorbed with limited disruption.

What determines outcomes is propagation.

Propagation refers to how stress travels through the financial ecosystem—across institutions, markets, infrastructures, and governance arrangements—and how it is amplified, dampened, delayed, or redirected along the way. It is a property of structure and interaction, not of events.

Stress testing derives its value from illuminating these propagation dynamics. It asks:

- how localized strain becomes system-wide stress,
- where feedback loops reinforce losses or liquidity pressures,
- which interfaces transmit stress rapidly, and
- where thresholds and coordination failures trigger regime shifts.

This focus explains why similar shocks can produce radically different outcomes across systems and over time. Changes in integration, leverage, infrastructure design, or governance capacity can alter propagation even when the initiating disturbance appears familiar.



An ecosystemic stress test therefore does not seek to identify the "right" shock. It explores how diagnosed vulnerabilities interact once strain is introduced, regardless of the trigger. The shock is a device; propagation is the object.

This distinction is critical for stewardship. By concentrating on propagation, stress testing avoids the illusion that crises can be anticipated by enumerating scenarios. Instead, it sharpens understanding of systemic behavior and institutional limits—insights that remain relevant even when the next shock arrives from an unexpected direction.

5.5 Stress Across the Five Layers

Stress testing in an ecosystemic context must attend explicitly to all five layers:

- Information: how narratives shift, signals lose credibility, or coordination breaks down;
- Infrastructure: how operational strain, outages, or bottlenecks transmit stress;
- Innovation: how novel instruments behave when assumptions are violated;
- Integration: how shocks propagate across sectors, borders, and markets;
- Governance: how institutions coordinate, escalate, and decide under pressure.

Stress testing that focuses narrowly on one layer risks missing the interactions that generate systemic outcomes.

5.6 Stress Testing as a Test of Governance Capacity

Crises are as much institutional events as financial ones. Stress tests therefore reveal not only financial fragility, but **governance capacity under strain**.

Exploration under stress can surface:

- mandate conflicts and decision delays;
- information bottlenecks and interpretive disagreement;
- coordination failures across authorities;
- legitimacy constraints that limit action.

These insights are among the most valuable outputs of stress testing, even though they resist quantification. They inform preparedness by clarifying where **institutional assumptions may fail**.

5.7 What Stress Testing Can Legitimately Inform

Properly framed, stress testing can inform:



- preparedness and contingency thinking without pre-commitment;
- prioritization of governance attention;
- institutional learning about propagation and coordination;
- narrative discipline in the face of uncertainty.

It cannot predict crises, assign probabilities, or certify resilience. Acknowledging these limits preserves credibility and avoids the illusion of control.

5.8 The Limits of Stress Testing

Stress testing is constrained by:

- model dependence and conceptual simplification;
- incomplete knowledge of future innovation;
- adaptive behavior by market participants;
- institutional incentives to overinterpret results.

These limits are structural, not technical. No refinement can eliminate them entirely. Stress testing must therefore be practiced with **humility**, recognizing that its greatest value lies in revealing what is not well understood (Knight, 1921).

5.9 Transition: From Exploration to Endurance

Exploration under strain generates insight, but insight alone does not endure. Lessons fade as conditions normalize, personnel change, and institutional routines reassert themselves. Stress tests may continue to be conducted while their capacity to inform judgment quietly erodes.

For financial ecosystem stewardship to be effective, the capabilities developed through design, governance, diagnostics, and stress testing must **persist over time**. That challenge is not analytical. It is institutional.

The next chapter turns to this final dimension, examining how stewardship becomes a durable capability rather than a series of episodic exercises.

6. Institutionalizing Financial Ecosystem Stewardship

From Framework to Enduring Capability

Design, governance, diagnostics, and stress testing together form a coherent way of reasoning about financial ecosystems. Yet coherence in thought does not guarantee durability in practice.



Over time, analytical clarity fades, institutional memory erodes, and practices that once sharpened judgment become ritualized.

This chapter addresses the final problem in the stewardship arc: how an ecosystemic way of reasoning persists over time. It develops institutionalization not as implementation or reform, but as the transformation of insight into enduring institutional capability.

6.1 Why Frameworks Do Not Endure

Analytical frameworks travel easily; institutions do not. Reports can be adopted, concepts can be endorsed, and methodologies can be replicated—yet the capacity to reason with them often dissipates.

Several forces work against endurance:

- Personnel turnover, which disrupts tacit knowledge and shared judgment;
- Political and leadership cycles, which reframe priorities;
- Normalization after crisis, which dulls attention to fragility;
- Formalization, which converts insight into procedure and drains meaning.

These forces are not failures of commitment. They are normal features of institutional life. Institutionalization exists to counteract them—not by freezing practice, but by **preserving the capacity to think**.

6.2 Institutionalization Beyond Adoption

Institutionalization is often misunderstood as formal adoption: the creation of units, mandates, procedures, or reporting lines. While such elements may matter, they are neither necessary nor sufficient.

In the context of financial ecosystem stewardship, institutionalization refers to something more subtle: the embedding of a **mode of reasoning** into how institutions interpret information, coordinate action, and exercise judgment under uncertainty.

This mode of reasoning is evident when:

- trade-offs are recognized rather than denied;
- uncertainty is confronted rather than suppressed;
- disagreement is surfaced rather than avoided;
- and responsibility is acknowledged despite limited control.

Institutionalization is therefore as much cultural as structural.



6.3 Stewardship as Practice, Not Event

Stewardship is not triggered only in crisis. It is exercised continuously, often invisibly, through routine decisions and interpretive habits. Paradoxically, normal times pose the greatest risk to stewardship, because they encourage complacency and procedural substitution.

Over time, diagnostics can become checklists, stress testing can become compliance, and governance can become box-ticking—while the appearance of rigor remains intact.

Institutionalization seeks to prevent this hollowing-out by sustaining stewardship as a **practice**, not an episodic response.

6.4 Mechanisms of Institutional Persistence

Institutional endurance does not depend primarily on formal structures. It relies on a set of reinforcing mechanisms that preserve coherence across time.

Shared Language and Concepts: A common vocabulary allows institutions to discuss fragility, trade-offs, and uncertainty without defaulting to technical shorthand or euphemism. Language anchors interpretation.

Interpretive Norms: Norms about how evidence is weighed, how disagreement is handled, and how uncertainty is communicated shape whether diagnostics and stress testing inform judgment or obscure it.

Decision Routines: Regular forums, escalation pathways, and sequencing practices embed stewardship into everyday governance without requiring constant reinvention.

Organizational Memory: Formal records matter, but informal memory—what institutions remember as salient, surprising, or dangerous—matters more. Institutional memory is fragile and must be actively maintained.

Informal Practices: Much stewardship occurs outside formal processes: through dialogue, challenge, and reflection. These practices often outlast organizational charts.

None of these mechanisms can be mandated into existence. They must be cultivated.

6.5 Institutional Drift and Erosion

Institutional failure rarely appears as sudden collapse. More often, it takes the form of **drift**—the gradual erosion of interpretive capacity while formal compliance remains intact.



Signs of drift include:

- declining tolerance for ambiguity;
- reduced space for dissenting views;
- overreliance on standardized outputs;
- conflation of activity with insight.

Drift is difficult to detect precisely because institutions continue to function. Recognizing drift requires reflexivity—an ability to question whether practices still serve their original purpose. Box 6.1 discusses that even when formal mandates, frameworks, and tools remain in place, the capacity for effective stewardship can erode gradually through institutional drift.

Box 6.1 — Institutional Drift: How Capacity Erodes Without Anyone Noticing

The most persistent threat to financial ecosystem stewardship is not ignorance or inaction, but **institutional drift**.

Institutional drift refers to the gradual erosion of analytical, interpretive, and coordinative capacity over time, even as formal structures, mandates, and procedures remain unchanged. It occurs quietly, without crisis or visible failure, and is often mistaken for stability.

Drift emerges through several reinforcing mechanisms:

- Ritualization, as practices originally designed to support judgment become routine compliance exercises;
- Turnover and fragmentation, which weaken institutional memory and shared understanding;
- Tool dominance, where frameworks and indicators substitute for interpretation rather than support it;
- Success-induced complacency, as periods without crisis reduce incentives to challenge prevailing assumptions.

Unlike acute failures, institutional drift is difficult to detect. Outputs continue to be produced, meetings continue to occur, and indicators continue to be monitored. What erodes is the capacity to integrate signals, surface uncomfortable trade-offs, and act coherently under uncertainty.

This dynamic explains why institutions often enter crises with extensive analytical infrastructure but limited readiness. The problem is not the absence of tools, but the loss of stewardship as an active practice.



Institutionalization, therefore, is not achieved by embedding frameworks into statutes or procedures alone. It requires sustained attention to how judgment is exercised, renewed, and transmitted over time—particularly during periods of apparent calm.

Recognizing institutional drift shifts the focus of stewardship from episodic reform to **continuous renewal**. Without this awareness, even the most sophisticated approaches to design, governance, diagnostics, and stress testing risk becoming hollow.

6.6 Stewardship Across Cycles and Crises

Institutionalization must operate across both crisis and calm. Crises can catalyze learning, but learning acquired under pressure is often fragile. As conditions normalize, incentives shift toward forgetting.

Leadership transitions pose a particular challenge. Stewardship depends not on individual authority, but on continuity of reasoning. Institutions that rely on exceptional individuals rather than embedded practices are especially vulnerable to erosion.

6.7 Responsibility Without Control

Financial ecosystem stewardship carries an ethical dimension. Institutions exercise authority without full control, make decisions without certainty, and influence outcomes shaped by complex interactions beyond their command.

Institutionalization does not eliminate these tensions. It clarifies responsibility in their presence. Stewardship, in this sense, is not about guaranteeing outcomes, but about acting responsibly under irreducible uncertainty.

6.8 Transition: From Endurance to Conclusions

With this chapter, the core arc of the framework is complete. Design defines structure. Governance manages trade-offs. Diagnostics make fragility legible. Stress testing explores behavior under strain. Institutionalization preserves the capacity to steward the system over time.

What remains is to step back and reflect on what this arc implies for financial stability, public value, and institutional responsibility in a world where uncertainty cannot be eliminated.

The final chapter synthesizes these elements, drawing out their collective meaning and situating financial ecosystem stewardship as a durable way of reasoning rather than a closed framework.



7. Conclusions

Stewardship Under Irreducible Uncertainty

This document has developed a single argument across seven chapters: financial stability in modern economies is not a problem of control, prediction, or optimization, but of stewardship under irreducible uncertainty. Financial systems have become ecosystems—interdependent, adaptive, and deeply embedded in economic and social life. In such systems, outcomes emerge from interaction, not from design alone; fragility accumulates quietly; and crises test institutions as much as balance sheets.

The purpose of this concluding chapter is not to summarize what has already been said, nor to extend the framework further. It is to **integrate the arc**—design, governance, diagnostics, stress testing, and institutionalization—into a coherent perspective on responsibility in modern finance.

7.1 What the Ecosystem Perspective Changes

Viewing finance as an ecosystem alters the locus of responsibility. It shifts attention away from isolated actors and toward **system-level interaction**, away from static rules and toward **dynamic stewardship**, and away from technical mastery and toward **institutional judgment**.

Three implications stand out.

First, structure matters persistently. Design choices shape incentives, behavior, and vulnerability long after they are made. Once neutrality is abandoned, financial systems cannot be treated as passive conduits; they must be understood as architectures that condition outcomes.

Second, **authority** is **necessarily fragmented**. No single institution governs the financial ecosystem. Coordination, not control, becomes the defining governance challenge. Failures of coordination are not implementation errors; they are endogenous risks.

Third, uncertainty is irreducible. Diagnostics can improve legibility, and stress testing can explore behavior under strain, but neither can deliver certainty. Judgment cannot be eliminated without undermining responsibility.

Together, these implications reframe financial stability as a problem of stewardship rather than technique.



7.2 The Stewardship Arc Revisited

The chapters of this analysis form a deliberate sequence, each addressing a distinct dimension of stewardship while remaining incomplete on its own.

- Design establishes the structural terrain and the trade-offs embedded within it.
- Governance explains how coherence is maintained under fragmentation and constraint.
- **Diagnostics** render systemic fragility legible through interpretation rather than measurement.
- Stress testing explores how fragility behaves under strain, revealing propagation and governance capacity.
- **Institutionalization** ensures that this way of reasoning persists over time rather than decaying into ritual.

None of these functions can substitute for the others. Each addresses a different failure mode. Together, they form a **system of stewardship**, not a toolkit.

7.3 Trade-offs as the Enduring Condition

A central theme throughout the framework is the persistence of **irreducible trade-offs**. Financial ecosystems cannot simultaneously maximize efficiency, resilience, innovation, integration, openness, and stability. Attempts to resolve these tensions definitively—through design, regulation, or modeling—inevitably fail.

Stewardship does not eliminate trade-offs. It **manages them over time**, recognizing that priorities shift, contexts change, and yesterday's solutions become tomorrow's vulnerabilities. This temporal dimension is critical. What matters is not the selection of a single optimal configuration, but the capacity to adapt responsibly as conditions evolve.

7.4 Judgment Without Illusion

If uncertainty cannot be eliminated, then judgment becomes unavoidable. The challenge is not to remove judgment from financial stability policy, but to **exercise it without illusion**.

Illusion arises when models are treated as forecasts, when indicators are mistaken for understanding, or when procedures substitute for reasoning. Stewardship requires a different posture: one that accepts limits, surfaces disagreement, and resists the temptation to equate precision with insight.

This posture does not weaken authority. It grounds it.



7.5 Institutions as the Carriers of Stewardship

Ultimately, stewardship is not carried by frameworks or methodologies. It is carried by **institutions**—by how they interpret information, coordinate action, remember past failures, and transmit judgment across time.

The greatest long-term risk to financial stability is not analytical error, but **institutional erosion**: the gradual loss of interpretive capacity as practices become routinized and learning fades. Institutionalization addresses this risk by preserving the ability to reason under uncertainty, even as contexts change.

7.6 Responsibility in an Uncertain World

Financial ecosystem stewardship entails responsibility without control. Institutions influence outcomes they cannot fully predict, and they act under constraints they do not choose. This responsibility is ethical as well as technical. It requires humility about what can be known, discipline about what can be done, and continuity in how decisions are made.

Stewardship does not promise stability without risk. It offers something more realistic and more durable: the capacity to confront uncertainty with coherence, judgment, and accountability.

7.7 Closing the Arc

This framework does not present a closed system. It offers a way of reasoning—one that acknowledges complexity, respects limits, and centers institutional responsibility.

Design defines structure.

Governance manages trade-offs.

Diagnostics make fragility legible.

Stress testing explores behavior under strain.

Institutionalization preserves the capacity to steward financial ecosystems over time.

Together, these elements constitute financial ecosystem stewardship—not as a solution to uncertainty, but as a disciplined response to it.



8. References

Acemoglu, D. and Robinson, J.A. (2012). Why Nations Fail: The Origins of Power, Prosperity, and Poverty. New York: Crown Publishers.

Arrow, K.J. (1951). Social Choice and Individual Values. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Arrow, K.J. (1964) 'The role of securities in the optimal allocation of risk-bearing', *Review of Economic Studies*, 31(2), pp. 91–96.

Bank for International Settlements (BIS) (2015). 85th Annual Economic Report. Basel: Bank for International Settlements.

Bank for International Settlements (BIS) (2021). *Annual Economic Report 2021*. Basel: Bank for International Settlements.

Bank for International Settlements (BIS) (2023). *Annual Economic Report 2023*. Basel: Bank for International Settlements.

Bank & Finance Consulting Group (fothcoming). *Designing Financial Ecosystems: A Five-Layer Architecture for Resilience, Performance, and Public Value*. Mexico City: Bank & Finance Consulting Group.

Bank & Finance Consulting Group (forthcoming). *Governing Financial Ecosystems: An Institutional Architecture for Coordination, Resilience, and Systemic Stability*. Mexico City: Bank & Finance Consulting Group.

Bank & Finance Consulting Group (forthcoming). *Diagnosing Financial Ecosystems: Making Systemic Risk Legible to Governance*. Mexico City: Bank & Finance Consulting Group.

Bank & Finance Consulting Group (forthcoming). Stress Testing Without Illusion: Exploring Systemic Fragility After Design, Governance, and Diagnosis. Mexico City: Bank & Finance Consulting Group.

Bank & Finance Consulting Group (forthcoming). *Institutionalizing Financial Ecosystem Stewardship: From Framework to Enduring Capability*. Mexico City: Bank & Finance Consulting Group.

Bernanke, B.S. (1983). 'Nonmonetary effects of the financial crisis in the propagation of the Great Depression', *American Economic Review*, 73(3), pp. 257–276.

Borio, C. (2014). 'The financial cycle and macroeconomics: What have we learnt?', *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 45, pp. 182–198.

Borio, C. (2018). *Towards a Macroprudential Framework for Financial Stability*. BIS Working Papers No. 730. Basel: Bank for International Settlements.

Brunnermeier, M.K. and Oehmke, M. (2013). 'The maturity rat race', *Journal of Finance*, 68(2), pp. 483–521.

Brunnermeier, M.K. and Oehmke, M. (2015). *The Liquidity Mismatch Index*. NBER Working Paper No. 21026. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.



Debreu, G. (1959) *Theory of Value: An Axiomatic Analysis of Economic Equilibrium*. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Gorton, G. (1988). 'Banking panics and business cycles', *Oxford Economic Papers*, 40(4), pp. 751–781.

Gorton, G. and Metrick, A. (2012). *Regulating the Shadow Banking System*. Brookings Papers on Economic Activity. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.

Haldane, A.G. and May, R.M. (2011). 'Systemic risk in banking ecosystems', *Nature*, 469(7330), pp. 351–355.

Hayek, F.A. (1945). 'The use of knowledge in society', *American Economic Review*, 35(4), pp. 519–530.

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2014). *Staff Guidance Note on Macroprudential Policy*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2022). *Global Financial Stability Report: Shockwaves from the War in Ukraine*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2023). *Global Financial Stability Report: Financial and Climate-Related Risks*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

Knight, F.H. (1921). Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Merton, R.C. (1995). 'A functional perspective of financial intermediation', *Financial Management*, 24(2), pp. 23–41.

Minsky, H.P. (1986). Stabilizing an Unstable Economy. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Modigliani, F. and Miller, M.H. (1958) 'The cost of capital, corporation finance and the theory of investment', *American Economic Review*, 48(3), pp. 261–297.

North, D.C. (1990). *Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2019). *Global Liquidity:* Changing Drivers, Pressures and Spillovers. Paris: OECD Publishing.

Shiller, R.J. (2017). Narrative Economics. American Economic Review, 107(4), pp. 967–1004.

Simon, H.A. (1957). Administrative Behavior. 2nd edn. New York: Macmillan.

Taleb, N.N. (2007). The Black Swan: The Impact of the Highly Improbable. New York: Random House.

Taleb, N.N. (2012). Antifragile: Things That Gain from Disorder. New York: Random House.

Weick, K.E. (1995). Sensemaking in Organizations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.